IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., derivatively on behalf of Reading International, Inc., Appellant,	Supreme Count Carronically filled Supreme Count Carronically filled Consolidated With Case Nos 7:32 p.m 77733, 76981 & Clerk of Supreme Court Output Discourted the Supreme Court Output Discourted the Supreme Court
v.))
DOUGLAS MCEACHERN, EDWARD KANE, JUDY CODDING, WILLIAM GOULD, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, AND NOMINAL DEFENDANT READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION	District Court Case No. A-15-719860-B Coordinated with: Case No. P-14-0824-42-E
Respondents.))

Appeal (Case No. 76981) Eighth Judicial District Court, Dept. XI The Honorable Elizabeth G. Gonzalez

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(1), which allows an appeal to be taken from a "final judgment entered in an action . . . commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." Cotter Jr. commenced this case on June 12, 2015 in the Eighth Judicial District Court. I JA1-29.¹ On December 28, 2017, the district court entered summary judgment in favor of five of the eight defendants, which portion it certified as final under NRCP 54(b) by order dated January 4, 2018. XXV JA6065-6071, JA6179-6188. Cotter Jr. appealed from that order on February 2, 2018. XXV JA6295-6297. *See* Case No. 75305.

On August 14, 2018, the district court entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law ("FFCL), granting summary judgment in favor of the three remaining defendants. XXXIV JA8401-8410. Notice of entry of the FFCL was served on August 16, 2018. XXXIV JA8412-8425. Cotter Jr. timely filed his notice of appeal from the FFCL on September 13, 2018. XXXVII JA9108-9110.

¹ "JA" refers to Joint Appendix. The Roman numeral preceding "JA" refers to the volume(s) of the appendix in which the cited page(s) can be found.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRAP 17(a)(9) because this case originated in business court. I JA1.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

In 2015 a majority of interested and non-independent RDI directors voted in favor of two principal decisions on which Cotter Jr.'s fiduciary duty claims were based. In 2017—more than two years later and on the eve of trial of these claims against the interested directors—RDI's conflicted counsel advised a Special Independent Committee ("SIC") to recommend ratification of the 2015 decisions by the five directors who had been recently dismissed. Under these circumstances,

- 1. Did the district court err in concluding that the ratification vote was entitled to protection under the business judgment rule and disposed of Cotter Jr.'s claims for breach of fiduciary duty, when the SIC was advised by the same counsel who advised RDI and the interested directors?
- 2. Did the district court err in finding that the directors had met all the requirements for ratification under NRS 78.140 and were immune from suit when: (a) the directors did not ratify a "contract or

transaction"; (b) the ratification was admittedly a litigation tactic; and (c) there were genuine issues of material fact as to whether the five voting directors voted independently or at the direction of conflicted counsel for nominal defendant RDI to further the interests of the remaining three interested directors represented by other counsel?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is a shareholder derivative action for breach of fiduciary duty owed to nominal defendant Reading International, Inc. ("RDI"), a publicly traded corporation, and its shareholders by all directors. III JA519-575. Appellant Cotter Jr. is a substantial shareholder and a former director, President, and CEO of RDI. I JA79; III JA526 (¶ 17). His sisters, respondents Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter, are members of the RDI board of directors (the "Board") and at all times relevant hereto the controlling shareholder(s) of RDI. III JA526-27 (¶¶ 18–19). The remaining individual respondents are or were members of the Board, as well as members of certain Board committees. III JA527-30 (¶¶ 20–25); XX JA5053-5054 (¶¶ 20-25).²

² Director Gould passed away on or about August 6, 2018. LII JA12894-95.

B. Course of the proceedings and disposition below.

Cotter Jr. filed this lawsuit on June 12, 2015. I JA1. After discovery and two rounds of (partial) summary judgment motions that were denied, the district court on December 28, 2017, shortly before trial was set to commence, granted summary judgment in favor of five of the eight director defendants on the grounds that there were no genuine issues of material fact related to their interestedness and/or independence. XXV JA6065-6071. The order dismissing the five directors is the subject of Case No. 75053.

On August 14, 2018, the district court also granted summary judgment in favor of the remaining three defendants on the grounds that an independent majority of directors had ratified the decisions challenged by Cotter Jr. and that their ratification vote was protected from challenge by the business judgment rule. XXXIV JA8401-8410. The district court entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law ("FFCL") on August 14, 2018. Notice of entry of the FFCL was given on August 16, 2018. XXXIV JA8412. Cotter Jr. timely appealed from the FFCL on September 13, 2018. XXXXVII JA9108-9110.

V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS.

A. Cotter Jr. is appointed CEO by unanimous vote.

RDI is a publicly traded Nevada corporation engaged in the development, ownership, and operation of multiplex cinemas and retail and commercial real estate in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand. I JA74, JA78-79, JA207.³

Appellant Cotter Jr. became a director of RDI in 2002. I JA78. In 2005, he became involved in RDI's management. XVII JA4148. In 2007, Cotter Jr. was appointed Vice Chairman of the RDI board of directors, and in 2013, he was appointed President of RDI. I JA78. In August 2014, when his father, Cotter Sr., resigned as CEO for health reasons, the Board unanimously appointed Cotter Jr. CEO. I JA78; XX JA5025 (¶ 17).

B. After their father's death, the Cotter sisters obtain control over RDI.

Cotter Sr. passed away in September 2014. I JA180. Thereafter, Cotter Jr.'s two sisters Ellen and Margaret Cotter, who were also directors of the Board (the "Cotter sisters"), refused to accept Cotter Jr.'s authority as

5

³ This is one of three cases that have been consolidated for appeal purposes but briefed separately. As a result, this statement of facts only sets out the facts necessary for the issues raised in this appeal. The briefs filed in Case No. 75053 expand on certain facts, in particular those leading up to the June 12, 2015, complaint.

CEO and refused to report to him. XVII 4151A-C; XIV JA3405; XXI JA5055 (¶ 41). To increase their control at RDI and decrease Cotter Jr.'s, the Cotter sisters took a number of actions, including, but not limited to: (1) increasing the influence of RDI's theretofore dormant executive committee of which they were the controlling members, XIV JA3407, JA3409-10; XVII JA 4151A-C; (2) proposing they have management power within their respective "operational areas," XIV JA3408-09, JA3418-3421; XVII JA 4151A-C; (3) initiating trust and estate litigation against Cotter Jr. in the California probate court to obtain control of RDI Class B voting stock sufficient to elect all of RDI's directors, I JA98; and (4) proposing to terminate Cotter Jr. as CEO. XIV JA3466.

Once Cotter Jr. was terminated, Ellen Cotter was appointed interim CEO, and ultimately—following an aborted independent CEO search—CEO, despite her lack of experience in real estate development and not meeting other criteria that the CEO search committee, endorsed by the Cotter sisters, had earlier found crucial. XVII JA4510; XXI JA5146, JA5155, JA5169-70, JA5180, JA5189-90. Cotter Jr.'s other sister, Margaret Cotter, was then granted her wish to become RDI's Executive Vice President of Real Estate Management and Development-NYC despite lacking any

experience or qualifications for this position. XXI JA5067 (¶¶ 149-151); XXI JA5118-5119.

C. Cotter Jr. files a derivative lawsuit on RDI's behalf.

Cotter Jr. filed suit upon his termination in June 2015, and twice amended his complaint. I JA1-29, II JA263-312, III JA519-575. All his claims were made against only the individual directors and damages and injunctive relief were sought *on behalf* of RDI—not against it. *Id*.

D. RDI actively defends against the lawsuit and sides with the directors accused of breaching their fiduciary duty.

Nevertheless, nominal defendant RDI—through its outside counsel, Greenberg Traurig—treated RDI as a party adverse to its own interests and actively defended *against* Cotter Jr.'s derivative complaint throughout the entire litigation. For example, RDI filed a motion to compel arbitration and stay the action, arguing that the derivative case Cotter Jr. had filed on its behalf was merely an effort to get his job back. I JA127-148. The district court denied that motion. II JA257-259. RDI filed answers to Cotter Jr.'s complaints and asked that the claims filed against the directors be dismissed. II JA397-418, XX JA4891-4916. RDI filed joinders to all six partial motions for summary judgment filed by the individual directors and to director Gould's separate motion for summary judgment on the

merits of the case. XV JA3707-3808; XVI JA3806-3814; XIX JA4568-4609. RDI's counsel made arguments in court on the merits of Cotter Jr.'s claims over the objection of Cotter Jr.'s counsel, which the district court did not act on. XIX JA4805. RDI also joined in the directors' motion for an evidentiary hearing regarding Plaintiff's adequacy as a derivative plaintiff. XX JA4978-4980.

RDI's outside counsel, Greenberg Traurig, also spent several days in Los Angeles in December 2017 to prepare both Cotter sisters for trial. XXXVII JA9206.

E. Two years into the litigation, a Special Independent Committee is formed.

At no time during the litigation did RDI's board of directors establish a special litigation committee to investigate Cotter Jr.'s claims.

Only in August 2017—more than two years into the litigation—RDI's board created a "special independent committee" ("SIC"). XXVII JA6745; XXXI JA7652, JA7659-7665. The Charter of the SIC was prepared in whole or in part by RDI's outside counsel, Greenberg Traurig. XXVII JA6747. The Charter describes the SIC's task as "consideration of matters related to the" various "Cotter Related Proceedings" because of the stated "material impact" of these Proceedings on RDI. XXXI JA7661. The "Cotter Related

Proceedings" included not only this derivative case but also the arbitration that RDI had initiated in California against Cotter Jr. and the trust and estate litigation between the Cotter sisters and Cotter Jr. in California.

XXXI JA7659-7661.

"To fulfill its responsibilities and duties," the SIC was "authorized," among other things, to:

- i. . . . investigate . . . evaluate, monitor and exercise general oversight of any and all activities of the Company directly or indirectly involving, responding to or relating to the Purpose . . .
- ii. ... Meet, confer and receive advice of legal counsel . . . and/or third parties in connection with the Purpose, and, instruct legal counsel representing the Company to . . . file pleadings or other papers, appear in any proceedings... and otherwise take such steps as the [SIC] deemed to be in the best interest of the Company in any Cotter Related Proceedings or
- iii. Participate in and direct legal counsel representing the Company to conduct negotiations and take actions to resolve matters related to the Cotter Related Proceedings...
- iv. Report to the Board, as it determines to be appropriate . . ., its recommendations and conclusions with respect to the determinations delegated to it by this Charter; and
- v. Take all such other actions as the [SIC] may deem to be necessary or appropriate in connection with the above.

The [SIC] shall have the authority to enter into or bind the Company in connection with a Cotter Related Proceedings . . . [except] to ...approve any merger, consolidation or liquidation of the Company.

XXXI JA7663-7765.

Although the SIC had authority "to retain" its own "legal counsel," XXXI JA7665, it did not do so. The SIC was represented by Greenberg Traurig—the same counsel already representing nominal defendant RDI. XXVII JA6745, JA6748-6749, JA6761-6765.

F. The Cotter directors supplement their previously denied Partial MSJs.

On November 9, 2017, the Cotter directors filed a Supplement to five motions for partial summary judgment ("Partial MSJs") they had initially filed in 2016. VI-XVV JA1486-3336; XIX-XX JA4736-4890, XX JA4981-5024. In October 2016, the district court had denied outright the Cotter directors' Partial MSJ No. 1, which sought dismissal of Cotter Jr.'s fiduciary duty claims pertaining to his termination, and denied four other Partial MSJs with leave to renew after Rule 56(f) discovery. XX JA4919.

In response to the Cotter directors' 2017 Supplement, Cotter Jr. filed supplemental oppositions to Partial MSJs Nos. 1, 2, 5, and 6 and to Gould's MSJ. XXI-XXII JA5094-JA5509.

G. The district court dismisses five of the eight director defendants.

On December 11, 2017, the district court held a hearing on the Cotter directors' Partial MSJs. XXIII JA5718-5792. Following argument from counsel, the district court granted Partial MSJ No. 1 (related to Cotter Jr.'s termination) and Partial MSJ No. 2 (related to the directors' independence) as to director defendants McEachern, Kane, Gould, Codding, and Wrotniak and dismissed all Cotter Jr.'s claims against these five directors on the grounds that he had failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact regarding their disinterestedness and independence. XXIII JA5758, JA5761-5762; XXV JA6068-6069.4

However, the district court did not dismiss the Cotter sisters and director Adams, and denied Partial MSJ Nos. 1, 2, 5, and 6 as to them, finding there were genuine issues of material fact as to their disinterestedness and independence. *Id.* But the dismissal of all claims against five directors narrowed down Cotter Jr.'s derivative claims against the three remaining directors to two principal decisions in which they had

⁴ The Partial MSJs and the specific rulings on them are set out more fully in Cotter Jr.'s Opening Brief in Case No. 75053, which concerns his appeal from the district court's December 28, 2017 order dismissing the five director defendants.

a determinative say: (1) the June 12, 2015 decision by directors Adams, Kane, McEachern and the Cotter sisters to terminate Cotter Jr. as CEO of RDI ("Termination Decision"); and (2) the September 2015 decision by directors Adams and Kane to allow the Cotter sisters to exercise an option to purchase 100,000 shares of Class B voting stock in RDI held by the Estate of Cotter, Sr. and use Class A Stock to pay for the exercise of the option to assure the Cotter sisters voting control at the 2015 annual shareholders meeting (the "Share Option Decision"). XXIII JA5691 (B.2, B.3).

H. RDI's counsel prepares the Cotter sisters for trial and informs them about a possible way to avoid it.

On December 13, 2017, two days after the five directors were dismissed, RDI's litigation attorney Mark Ferrario traveled to Los Angeles and spent several days there for "trial preparation" with Margaret Cotter. XXXVII JA9138 (at *Il.* 6-12), JA9206. That same day and again on December 15, 2017, Mr. Ferrario and his partner, Greenberg Traurig attorney Michael Bonner, exchanged emails with RDI's general counsel about the SIC and "ratification process" on which emails the Cotter sisters were copied. XXIX JA7290 (entries ending in 60907 & 60911). Mr. Ferrario also personally discussed "ratification" with Margaret Cotter "on or about December 15, 2017." XXX JA7554. Mr. Ferrario again traveled to Los Angeles on

December 20, for "Trial preparation with Ellen Cotter" and "Trial prep with co-counsel and client." XXXVII JA9206.

I. RDI's counsel advises the Special Independent Committee on ratification of the Share Option and Termination Decisions.

On December 21, 2017—the same day nominal defendant RDI's attorney Ferrario was preparing the Cotter sisters for trial and just ten days after the dismissal of five directors—Mr. Ferrario and Mr. Bonner telephonically met with SIC members Gould, McEachern, and Codding and discussed ratification of the Share Option and Termination Decisions with them. XXVI JA6513B, XXVII JA6761-6762. Mr. Bonner admitted that ratification was discussed with the SIC. XXVII JA6761. SIC member and Chairman Gould testified that the SIC formally took action to advance the ratifications by making a request that the subject be put on the agenda of the next board meeting, and admitted that "ratification might be a litigation strategy." XXX JA7505, JA7508 (emphasis added).

RDI's corporate counsel Michael Bonner did not prepare minutes of the December 21 SIC meeting until late January 2018. XXVII JA6750-6751 (at 24:22-25:6). Cotter Jr. and his counsel (and the district court) were not made aware of the December 21, 2017 SIC meeting until months later. XXVI JA 6441 (¶ 16); XXVII JA6705.

However, days after the SIC meeting, an email was drafted wherein SIC Chairman Gould requested, on behalf of the five directors who had been recently dismissed, that ratification of the Share Option and Termination Decisions be put on the agenda for a special board meeting scheduled on December 29, 2017—just ten days before trial against the Cotter sisters and Adams was to start. XXX JA7506; XXV JA6281. But Gould did not draft or edit that email, and none of the other four directors saw it until months later, during their depositions. XXX JA7506 (at 530:18-19), JA7514 (at 683:14-19), JA7522 (at 544:3-8), JA7530, JA7487. It was drafted by Greenberg Traurig with input from RDI's general counsel, who reported to defendant Ellen Cotter and passed the draft by her for input. XXX JA7506 (530:18-25); XXVI JA6375 (entries 60450, 60452, 60464), JA6385 (entry 60846); XXVI JA6350A.

J. RDI's counsel advises the Board on ratification of the Termination and Share Option decisions.

At the December 29, 2017 special board meeting, the recently dismissed five directors—three of whom SIC members who had previously discussed ratification with RDI's counsel, Greenberg Traurig—voted to "ratify" the Termination Decision and the Share Option Decision that were made in 2015. XXV JA6156-6161.

While delaying to draft the December 21, 2017 SIC meeting minutes, XXVII JA6750-6751, Michael Bonner immediately prepared the minutes of the December 29, 2017 special board meeting. *Id.*; XXVII JA6768-6770. Days later, RDI and the three remaining director defendants used the minutes of the December 29, 2017 meeting in motion papers aimed at obtaining a final judgment on all claims, as discussed next.

- K. RDI and the Cotter sisters use the ratification to avoid the imminent trial.
 - 1. RDI advises the district court that a judgment is forthcoming based on the ratification.

On December 29, 2017, Cotter Jr. filed a motion for Rule 54(b) certification of the order dismissing the five directors and a stay to allow Cotter Jr. to file an appeal. XXV JA6092-6106. Four days later, the three Cotter directors filed an opposition to Cotter Jr.'s motion but opposed only the stay. XXV JA6132-6139. They took "no position on [Cotter Jr.'s] request for certification under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b)." XXV JA6132-6133 (*Il.* 23-24), 6139 (*Il.* 3-4). RDI filed a Joinder to the directors' opposition, but argued *against* Rule 54(b) certification, because RDI "anticipated that there will be only a short time before there is a final judgment in this matter, mooting any need for a Rule 54(b) certification."

XXV JA6140. RDI anticipated a forthcoming judgment based on the recent dismissal of the five directors and the ratification of the Share Option and Termination Decisions. XXV JA6141, JA6146-51. RDI relied on and cited to the draft minutes of the December 29, 2017 special board meeting, XXV JA6146, which it attached to Errata filed the same day. XXV JA6153-6161.

Although Greenberg Traurig did not represent the Cotter sisters and Adams, the Joinder it filed on behalf of its client, nominal defendant RDI, argued that the "Ratification by a Majority of Disinterested Directors of Decisions Challenged By Cotter, Jr. Entitles the Purported Interested Directors to the Protections of the Business Judgment Rule as to Such Decisions." XXV JA6148-6149. RDI's counsel also argued that Cotter Jr. failed to show that any loss to their client was caused by the remaining director defendants Greenberg Traurig did not represent. XXV JA6150. Finally, RDI's Joinder argued that "Cotter, Jr. is unable to satisfy the elements for a claim of aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty against Ellen or Margaret Cotter, as he cannot establish that any other Defendant is liable for a breach of fiduciary duty." *Id*.

RDI's January 3, 2018, Joinder did not say a word about the December 21 SIC meeting and the role its counsel played at that meeting which led to the December 29, 2017, ratification.

2. The non-independent Cotter directors file a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law based on ratification on the eve of trial.

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