IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR.,
DERIVATIVELY ON BEHALF OF
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS
MCEACHERN, MARY ANN GOULD,
AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE
OF THE ESTATE OF WILLIAM
GOULD, JUDY CODDING, AND
MICHAEL WROTNIAK, READING
INTERNATIONAL, INC., A NEVADA
CORPORATION,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Nov 27 2019 06:31 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No.: 75053

Coordinated with Cases Nos: 76981,
77648, 77333

**ANSWERING BRIEF OF
RESPONDENT READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
FOR CASE NO. 76981**

Tami D. Cowden, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 8994

Mark E. Ferrario, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 1625

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District court properly granted judgment against Cotter, Jr. on all remaining claims. The Ratification Decision is a corporate decision protected by

the business judgment rule, as it does not fall within any exception to the application of the business judgment rule created by the legislature. Cotter, Jr. was unable to present evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption of good faith established by the business judgment rule, and his contention that NRS 78.140 does not apply to the challenged decisions here is belied by the plain language of the statute. Cotter, Jr. was unable to present evidence sufficient that any decision by the remaining three directors—which decisions have all now been approved by a majority of Reading’s directors, the independence of whom Cotter, Jr. has been unable to disprove—caused any harm to the Corporation. As Cotter, Jr. is unable to present evidence sufficient to show that there are material issues of fact as to an element of his claim (*i.e.*, causation), summary judgment was properly granted.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Reading was within its rights as a Nevada corporation to ratify the challenged decisions and put an end to this litigation. Cotter, Jr.’s insistence that such ratification is impermissible is not supported by any authority that is consistent with the deference Nevada affords corporate decisions. Moreover, even though the District Court applied a level of scrutiny that is inapplicable under express statutory law—and indeed, even gave Cotter, Jr. the benefit of a presumption as a sanction against Reading—Cotter, Jr. was unable to present any evidence to support his claim that the Ratification Decision was not the product of

independent and the informed decision-making of the five directors who voted in its favor.

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE RESPONDENTS, WHERE THE REMAINING CHALLENGED DECISIONS HAD BEEN DULY RATIFIED BY A MAJORITY OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS, THUS PRECLUDING ANY POTENTIAL RELIEF ON COTTER, JR.'S CLAIMS.

Cotter, Jr. has taken great pains to distort the facts comprising the chronology of events leading up to the December 29, 2017 Ratification Decision, but his efforts to transform a committee devoted to nothing more than remaining informed of events in the varying litigation among the Cotter siblings into a “Special Litigation Committee” charged with investigating derivative actions are for naught. Similarly, his labored attempts to twist Reading’s counsel’s representation of the Company into a contrived conflict are fruitless, and his efforts to impose inapplicable standards of proof and to shift the burden of persuasion as to the validity of the Ratification Decision are futile.

Nevada law is very clear as to the standards that apply to a corporate decision that was made on December 29, 2017. Pursuant to NRS 78.138(8), which became effective on July 1, 2017, the business judgment rule applies to that decision—period. Despite Cotter, Jr.’s smoke and mirrors, that simple fact is inescapable. And because Cotter, Jr. did not, and could not present evidence to show that any one of the five directors failed to exercise independent judgment,

failed to make an adequately informed decision, or failed to act with the interests of the Company in mind sufficient to overcome the statutory presumption that arises with the business judgment rule, Ratification Decision must stand.

Because the Ratification Decision stands, the District Court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams must be affirmed. With the ratification of the remaining challenged decisions, there was no possibility that the decisions could be voided, and therefore, Cotter, Jr. could not achieve his claimed relief, nor could he prove any damages from the claimed breaches of fiduciary duty. Therefore, the District Court's grant of summary judgment on all remaining claims was proper.

A. Nevada's Business Judgment Rule Governs the Ratification Decision.

In 2017, the Nevada Legislature amended NRS Chapter 78 in numerous ways. The most critical amendments, as relevant here, were those to NRS 78.138, which now states, in pertinent part:

1. The fiduciary duties of directors and officers are to exercise their respective powers in good faith and with a view to the interests of the corporation.

2. *In exercising their respective powers, directors and officers may, and are entitled to, rely on information, opinions, reports, books of account or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, that are prepared or presented by:*

(a) One or more directors, officers or employees of the corporation reasonably believed to be reliable and competent in the matters prepared or presented;

(b) *Counsel*, public accountants, financial advisers, valuation advisers, investment bankers or other persons as to matters reasonably believed to be within the preparer's or presenter's professional or expert competence; or

(c) A committee on which the director or officer relying thereon does not serve, established in accordance with [NRS 78.125](#), as to matters within the committee's designated authority and matters on which the committee is reasonably believed to merit confidence,

↳ but a director or officer is not entitled to rely on such information, opinions, reports, books of account or statements if the director or officer has knowledge concerning the matter in question that would cause reliance thereon to be unwarranted.

3. *Except as otherwise provided in subsection 1 of [NRS 78.139](#), directors and officers, in deciding upon matters of business, are presumed to act in good faith, on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the corporation.* A director or officer is not individually liable for damages as a result of an act or failure to act in his or her capacity as a director or officer except under circumstances described in subsection 7.

5. Directors and officers are not required to consider, as a dominant factor, the effect of a proposed corporate action upon any particular group or constituency having an interest in the corporation.

8. *This section applies to all cases, circumstances and matters unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation, or an amendment thereto, including, without limitation, any change or potential change in control of the corporation.*

NRS 78.138 (emphasis added). In addition to changes to assorted words or phrases in other subparts of NRS 78.138, the 2017 amendments added the first clause to Subparagraph (3) and also added the entirety of Subparagraph (8). These additions make it absolutely and unequivocally clear that the business judgment rule, which in Nevada creates a statutory presumption of good faith, applies in *all* “cases, circumstances and matters.” There are but two exceptions. The first, is where directors take an action that impedes the exercise of stockholder rights to vote for or against directors. NRS 78.138(3), *citing* NRS 78.139(1). The second is where a corporation’s articles of incorporation preclude the application of the business judgment rule. NRS 78.138(8).

The Ratification Decision took place in December 2017, nearly six months after the 2017 amendments took effect. In the face of this plain language, Cotter, Jr.’s contention that the business judgment rule did not apply to the Ratification Decision is unsupportable. Significantly, Cotter, Jr. does not even address the effect of the language of either NRS 78.138(3) or (8). Instead, he relies, as he has done through this litigation, on Delaware law that is patently inconsistent with the plain language of Nevada’s statutory law. This, too, is impermissible under Nevada law, as the 2017 amendments to NRS Chapter 78 also included the following:

2. The laws of this State govern the incorporation and internal affairs of a domestic corporation and the rights, privileges, powers, duties and liabilities, if any, of its directors, officers and stockholders.

3. The plain meaning of the laws enacted by the Legislature in this title, including, without limitation, the fiduciary duties and liability of the directors and officers of a domestic corporation set forth in NRS 78.138 and 78.139, must not be supplanted or modified by laws or judicial decisions from any other jurisdiction.

NRS 78.012 (2) and (3).

Cotter, Jr. contends that the Ratification Decision was akin to a decision made by a sort of Special Litigation Committee in *In re Dish Network*, 133 Nev. Ad. Op 61, 401 P.3d 1081 (2017), and therefore, the standards set forth in that opinion should govern. As noted above, this attempt to change a decision made by a majority of the board members into a decision made by a specifically charged committee is itself unsound. Even if such comparison could apply, it is of no consequence. The *Dish* decision was based on events that predate Nevada's relevant statute. However, to the extent that *In re Dish Network* places the burden of persuasion upon a party seeking to *enforce* a decision by a board of directors, the decision has been abrogated by the 2017 amendments to NRS 78.138.

The Legislature's plain and unequivocal direction that the business judgment rules applies in all circumstances (save for a type of corporate decision not present here) forecloses any question as to the proper standard by which the Ratification Decision must be assessed. Authority from other jurisdictions cannot justify the creation of any exception to the rule. Nev. Const. Art. 3, § 1(1); *Chavez v. Sievers*, 118 Nev. 288, 294 (Nev. 2002) (recognizing that the legislature has the sole power

to frame and enact legislation, and declining to add exceptions not contained in the legislation).

B. Cotter, Jr. Bore the Burden of Showing That the Ratification Decision Was Invalid.

Cotter, Jr. contends that the Director Defendants had the burden of proof on the issue of the purported independence of the five directors who voted in favor of the Ratification Decision. This is an incorrect statement of law. As noted above, the business judgment rule applies to the Ratification Decision. Nevada's business judgment rule makes clear that the burden of proof lies with the party challenging a corporate decision, because of the statutory presumption that the challenged decision was made, in good faith and with adequate information, with the corporation's best interests in mind. *See* NRS 47.180 ("A presumption. . . imposes on the party against whom it is directed the burden of proving that the nonexistence of the presumed fact is more probable than its existence."); NRS 78.138(3). Accordingly, Cotter's Jr. bore the burden of establishing that the Ratification Decision was not the product of the independent exercise of the five directors' judgment.

C. Summary Judgment on the Validity of the Ratification Vote Was Proper, as Cotter, Jr. Presented No Evidence That the Approving Directors Failed to Exercise Their Own Judgment.

Summary judgment is warranted if "the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no genuine issue as to any material fact remains and that the

moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). When the party opposing summary judgment bears the burden of persuasion at trial, the party seeking summary adjudication need only point out the absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’s case. *SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank*, 135 Nev., Advance Opinion 45, at *6 (Nev. Sep. 26, 2019). The party who seeks to survive summary judgment must then “show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact.” *Id.*

Here, Cotter, Jr. contended that the Ratification Decision was the product of a lack of independent judgment. Thus, he bore the burden of presenting evidence to show that the five directors did not exercise their independent judgment. However, he relied on the on the same bases for challenging the lack of independence that he had previously raised, and which the Court had previously found to be insufficient, *i.e.*, that all of the independent directors were unduly influenced by the Cotter sisters, either to maintain their own director positions, or because of the attenuated friendships between the directors and the parents of the Coddington siblings, and even, absurdly, the friendship between Margaret Cotter and a director’s *wife*.⁸ Once again, he offered nothing sufficient to support his claims.

⁸ Reading has discussed at length the paucity of Cotter, Jr.’s allegations and evidence on the issue of director independence in its briefs filed in Case Nos. 75053 and 77733, and incorporates such discussion and argument herein.

His only other basis to challenge the independence of the directors is his claim that Reading's counsel was conflicted, relying on cases a "special litigation committee" such as that envisioned by *In re Dish*, had been formed. But here, the only basis for claiming a "conflict" is that Reading's own counsel had communications involving the litigation with Reading's CEO, Ellen Cotter, and one of its Vice Presidents, Margaret Cotter. Thus, Cotter, Jr. contends that, even though the director defendants had (and continue to have) their own separate counsel, the corporation's counsel is unable to advise board members if that counsel also consults with management. Nothing in the authority cited by Cotter, Jr. precludes corporation litigation counsel from having communications with management. Indeed, Cotter, Jr. wholly ignores the fact that the *Directors* had their own counsel—indeed, the late William Gould was even represented by his own counsel, separate from that of the other defendants here.

Specifically, Cotter, Jr. relies on the fact that Ellen Cotter—Reading's CEO—was copied on two communications between Reading's general counsel and Reading's litigation counsel, wherein the ratification was one a topic of the communication. **XXIX JA7290 (entries ending with 60907 and 60911)**. There is no responsive communication from Ellen Cotter to either counsel with respect to this communication. This, coupled with Margaret Cotter's statement that she had discussed the ratification with Mr. Ferrario on December 15, 2017, is what Cotter,

Jr. offers to support his theory that Reading's counsel obtained the "blessing" of Ellen and Margaret Cotter to "use ratification," and that the purpose of ratification was not for the Company to put a stop to Cotter, Jr.'s ruinous vendetta against Reading, but instead, it was intended only to benefit the Cotter sisters. Opening Brief, p. 48.

To further "support" his theory, Cotter, Jr. baldly mischaracterizes the testimony of the five directors. For example, Cotter, Jr. makes the following statement:

"Some of [the five directors] did not even know ratification was being considered, let alone requested on their behalf, until after Greenberg's attorneys had discussed it with the Cotter sisters and obtained their blessing to use it."

Opening Brief, p. 48. In support of this statement, Cotter, Jr. cites to deposition testimony found at "XXX JA7506 (at 530:18-19), JA7514 (at 683:14-19), JA7522 (at 544:3-8), JA7530, JA7554, JA7487." Opening Brief, p. 48. However, the cited testimony refers to the email sent by Gould to Ellen Cotter, requesting a special board meeting be called for the purpose of ratification, **RDI SUPP JA 7568-A [filed under seal]**; the testimony shows only that four of the five directors had not participated in *drafting that email*, which, as noted above, merely asked for the special meeting and to place the ratification on the agenda. There is no testimony here as to ignorance of either the ratification issue itself, or of the request to have it placed on the meeting agenda. To the contrary, when asked *about the email*, both

McEachern and Coddling *volunteered* that it referred to the ratification they had discussed with Gould and Reading's counsel. **XXX 7487, 7522**. Thus, Cotter, Jr.'s theory boils down his contention that because only one of five directors participated in the drafting of a simple and straightforward email letter requesting a meeting and that an item be placed on the meeting agenda, this is somehow proof that the other directors were ignorant of the entire issue. Sadly, this is typical of the sort of "evidence" upon which Cotter, Jr. has relied throughout this matter.

D. Reading Was and Is Entitled to Defend Itself in This Litigation.

Cotter, Jr. contends that Reading was never entitled to defend itself in this litigation, that it should have remained neutral, and that its failure to do so taints the Ratification Decision. However, the authorities on which Cotter, Jr. relies do not support his position.

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